SUPREME COURT

Case No.: S219236

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE

AUG 2 2 2014

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

MAUREEN DESAULLES,

Plaintiff / Appellant,

v.

COMMUNITY HOSPITAL OF THE MONTEREY PENINSULA,

Defendant / Respondent / Petitioner

Court of Appeal of the State of California, Sixth District
Case No. H038184
Superior Court of the State of California, County of Monterey
Case No. M85528

OPENING BRIEF

Attorney for Defendant / Respondent / Petitioner
COMMUNITY HOSPITAL OF THE
MONTEREY PENINSULA

III.	STATEMENT OF FACTS								
	A.	Background Facts							
	В.	The Court of Appeal's Decision							
IV.	LEG	LEGAL DISCUSSION							
	A.	The Standard of Review							
	B.	Settlement Proceeds Do Not Qualify As A "Net Moneta Recovery" Under Code of Civil Procedure Section 1032							
		1.	The <i>Chinn</i> holding that settlement funds fail to qualify as a net monetary recovery is consistent with the law, legislative intent, and the goals of simplifying and streamlining procedures for determining costs7						
			a.	The <i>Chinn</i> holding7					
			b.	The <i>Chinn</i> ruling is consistent with numerous court decisions that strictly apply the rule that a defendant who obtains a dismissal is the prevailing party as a matter of right10					
			c.	The <i>Chinn</i> ruling is consistent with the Supreme Court's ruling in <i>Goodman</i> 11					
		2.	mone dispu incre	etting settlement proceeds to qualify as a "net etary recovery" would create confusion, lead to stes over the resolution of costs issues, and would ase the workload of an already overburdened iary					
			a.	The common meaning of "recovery" is to recover by way of an <i>order</i> or <i>judgment</i> 13					
	,		b.	The case law does not support a finding that settlement funds qualify as a "net monetary recovery"					

TABLE OF CONTENTS (CONT'D)

Page No.

	c.	Permitting settlement sums to qualify as a "net monetary recovery" will lead to disputes and is contrary to the legislative goal of simplifying costs procedures.
V.	CONCLUSION	19

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page No.:
STATE CASES
Cano v. Glover
(2006) 143 Cal.App.4 th 32610
Childers v. Edwards
(1996) 48 Cal.App.4 th 154418
Chinn v. KMR Property Management
(2008) 166 Cal.App.4 th 175
City of Long Beach v. Stevedoring Services of America
(2007) 157 Cal.App. 4 th 672 6, 11
Crib Retaining Walls, Inc. v. NBS/Lowry, Inc.
(1996) 47 Cal.App.4th 886 10, 11
Folsom v. Butte County Assn. of Governments
(1982) 32 Cal.3d 66817
Gallagher v. Manatee County
(Fla. App. 2006) 927 So.2d 91414
Gebelein v. Irvin
(1992) 231 Ill.App.3d 1011 13, 18
Gilbert v. National Enquirer, Inc.
(1997) 55 Cal.App.4 th 12738
Goodman v. Lozano
(2010) 47 Cal.4 th 1327
Great Western Bank v. Converse Consultants, Inc.
(1997) 58 Cal.App.4th 60910
Holtz v. Waggoner
(2007) 377 Ill.App.3d 59814

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES-CONT'D

Page No.:				
STATE CASES				
Mon Chong Loong Trading Corp. v. Superior Court				
(2013) 218 Cal.App.4 th 8710				
Rappenecker v. Sea-Land Service, Inc.				
(1979) 93 Cal.App.3d 25616				
Santisas v. Goodin				
(1998) 17 Cal.4 th 599 1, 10				
Schisler v. Mitchell				
(1959) 174 Cal.App.2d18				
Wakefield v. Bohlin				
(2006) 145 Cal.App.4 th 963 8, 19				
OTHER AUTHORITIES				
7 Witkin, Cal. Procedure (5th Ed., 2014 Supp.), Judgment, §9210				
Black's Law Dictionary 1466 (10 th Ed. 2004)13				
Code of Civil Procedure				
§ 87711				
Code of Civil Procedure				
§ 1032 1, 2, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20				
Random House Unabridged Dictionary 1613 (2nd Ed. 1993)13				

I. ISSUE PRESENTED

Do settlement proceeds qualify as a "net monetary recovery" under Code of Civil Procedure Section 1032, subdivision (a)(4)?

II. INTRODUCTION

Under Code of Civil Procedure Section 1032 ("Section 1032"), subdivision (a)(4), a party with a "net monetary recovery" is a prevailing party entitled to recover costs "as a matter of right." In this case, plaintiff argues, and the Sixth District Court of Appeal agreed, that proceeds obtained through a settlement qualify as a "net monetary recovery" under Section 1032. This position directly conflicts with existing case law and creates the potential for conflict and uncertainty with respect to costs procedures. It was exactly this type of uncertainty that the Legislature sought to avoid when it enacted Section 1032. (Chinn v. KMR Property Management (2008) 166 Cal.App.4th 175, 189 [the current version of Section 1032 was enacted in 1986 "to simplify the ... procedure for determining ... costs, thereby relieving court congestion and easing judicial workload."])

Prior to the Court of Appeal's ruling, the law was clear that settlement proceeds did *not* qualify as a "net monetary recovery" under Section 1032. The court in *Chinn v. KMR Property Management, supra*, examined the legislative history of Section 1032 and found that "[c]onstruing the term 'net monetary recovery' in context, we conclude that the Legislature did not intend to include settlement proceeds received by the plaintiff in exchange for a dismissal in favor of the defendant." (*Chinn, supra*, 166 Cal.App.4th at 188.) The *Chinn* ruling ensures the internal consistency of Section 1032. Under Section 1032, and pursuant to well-established case law, "a defendant in whose favor a dismissal is entered" is a prevailing party. (See e.g. *Santisas v. Goodin* (1998) 17 Cal.4th 599, 606.) The *Chinn* court reasoned that allowing the term "net monetary recovery"

to include settlement proceeds "would lead to an absurd result" because both a settling plaintiff who received settlement proceeds and a settling defendant who obtained a dismissal, would be entitled to an award of costs. (*Chinn, supra*, 166 Cal.App.4th at 189.) By ruling that settlement proceeds do not qualify as a net monetary recovery, the court in *Chinn* ensured a procedural framework for determining costs awards that was coherent, consistent with case law, and consistent with the legislative goal of simplifying costs procedures. The *Chinn* decision, and the procedural structure it created, was accorded further support by the Supreme Court's holding in *Goodman v. Lozano* (2010) 47 Cal.4th 1327. In that case, the Court made clear that Section 1032's net monetary recovery analysis looks only to the actual monetary value of the judgment itself and does not take into account overall success of the plaintiff through settlement.

Permitting settlement funds to qualify as a "net monetary recovery" under Section 1032 would upset the balance and the procedural simplicity created by *Chinn* and other decisions. It would provide the basis for two opposing parties to assert prevailing party status, which would lead to disputes over costs issues and create further complexities in the law as courts grapple with choosing one prevailing party in circumstances where case law permits a finding of two prevailing parties.

By ruling that settlement proceeds do not qualify as a net monetary recovery, the court in *Chinn* ensured a framework for determining costs awards that was consistent with the language of Section 1032, consistent with the case law, and consistent with the legislative goal of simplifying costs procedures. For that reason, and for the reasons presented in the appellate briefs and Petition for Review, petitioner Community Hospital of the Monterey Peninsula respectfully requests that the Court uphold the *Chinn* ruling and find that settlement proceeds do not qualify as a net monetary recovery under Section 1032.

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Background Facts

Plaintiff Maureen deSaulles, ("plaintiff"), worked as a registrar for defendant Community Hospital of the Monterey Peninsula (the "Hospital") from March 2005 to July 2006. (Joint Appendix, ("JA"), 151, 177.) She initiated an action against the Hospital on July 17, 2007 alleging that the Hospital failed to accommodate her disability. (JA 1-40.) Plaintiff's alleged disability prevented her from being around ill people. (JA 60-61.) It is undeniable that being around ill people is an essential function of a registrar position in a hospital. (JA 202.) Despite the difficulty of accommodating such a restriction, the Hospital attempted to accommodate plaintiff and found accommodations that included an open position that had no patient contact. (JA 26-27.) Plaintiff rejected the accommodations and instead brought a civil action alleging a first cause of action for failure to accommodate, a second cause of action for retaliation, a third cause of action for breach of implied contract, a fourth cause of action for breach of the covenant of good faith, a fifth cause of action for emotional distress, a sixth cause of action for "punitive damages," and a seventh cause of action for termination in violation of public policy. (JA 1-40, 171.) Plaintiff's second through seventh causes of action were based largely on her first cause of action and her allegation that she was not reasonably accommodated.

In response to plaintiff's complaint, the Hospital filed a motion for summary judgment and requested that the trial court dismiss the action because it was undisputed that the Hospital had offered plaintiff a reasonable accommodation. (JA 37-38.) The trial court dismissed plaintiff's main cause of action for failure to accommodate, but allowed her to proceed to trial on the other claims. (JA 39-40.) At trial, the Hospital filed a motion in limine seeking to preclude plaintiff from introducing any

evidence at trial regarding the Hospital's alleged failure to accommodate since that claim had been summarily adjudicated in the Hospital's favor. (JA 185-186.) The trial court granted the motion, which effectively precluded plaintiff from establishing her second, fifth, sixth, and seventh causes of action at trial. The trial court therefore adjudicated those causes of action in the Hospital's favor. (JA 185-186.)

The parties then entered into a settlement agreement whereby plaintiff agreed to, and did, dismiss with prejudice her two remaining causes of action in exchange for payment of \$23,500. (JA 185; 141; Attachment 2.) Plaintiff's dismissals terminated the action in the trial court. The settlement only concerned plaintiff's two contract claims and plaintiff retained the right to appeal the claims adjudicated by the trial court. (JA 98.) The parties further agreed to hold off on filing any motions or memorandums of costs pending any appeals. (JA 99, 276.) The settlement served the Hospital's litigation purposes by eliminating the costs of trial and effectively providing the Hospital with exactly what it would have obtained had it prevailed at trial: dismissal with prejudice of plaintiff's two remaining claims. Moreover, and with respect to the issue of costs, this procedure was permitted under controlling appellate case law. Under Chinn, supra, settlement proceeds do not qualify as a "net monetary recovery" in determining the prevailing party in an action. (Chinn, supra, 166 Cal.App.4th at 188.) Accordingly, at the time of the settlement, the law prohibited plaintiff from using the receipt of the settlement sum as a basis to claim that she was entitled to costs as a prevailing party.

The trial court then issued a judgment based on the summary judgment ruling, the rulings at trial, and the voluntary dismissals, which provided that "[p]laintiff recover nothing from defendant." (JA 276; Attachment 2.)

Plaintiff then filed an appeal challenging the trial court's rulings dismissing her first, second, fifth, sixth, and seventh causes. The Sixth District Court of Appeal denied the appeal in its entirety. (JA 144-223.)

Thereafter both parties filed memorandums of costs. (JA 49-69; JA 82-86.) Each party moved to strike the other's costs. (JA 87-115; JA 119-21.) On January 18, 2012, the trial court exercised its discretion to strike plaintiff's costs and award the Hospital its costs. (JA 377-378; Reporter's Transcript 7:6-14; Attachment 2.)

Plaintiff then appealed the costs award to the Court of Appeal arguing that the ruling in *Chinn* should be rejected and that the settlement sum that she received made her the prevailing party for purposes of costs.

B. The Court of Appeal's Decision

On May 2, 2014, the Court of Appeal issued a published decision expressly rejecting the *Chinn* case and reversing the costs award to the Hospital. The Court of Appeal ruled that contrary to the holding in *Chinn*, a settlement payment may qualify as a "net monetary recovery" under Section 1032 when an action is dismissed. (Typed opn. p. 19; Attachment 1.)

The Court of Appeal's ruling rests on its finding that there is "nothing" in the language of Section 1032 that "requires a trial court to disregard a settlement payment as a 'net monetary recovery." (Typed opn. p. 19.) The Court of Appeal acknowledged that the word "recovery" as it is used in the term "net monetary recovery" means "to gain by legal process" or "to obtain a final legal judgment in one's favor," but it held that the settlement sum received by plaintiff in this case was a "recovery" because it was made orally before the court. (Typed opn. p. 16.) And, though the trial court ruled in the Hospital's favor and dismissed five of plaintiff's seven causes of action, and though plaintiff voluntarily dismissed with prejudice her two remaining claims, the Court of Appeal found that the Hospital was

not a defendant in whose favor a dismissal was entered because the trial court's judgment did not "expressly dismiss the action." (Typed opn. p. 20, 23.) The Court of Appeal also ruled that though the judgment in this case stated that "[p]laintiff recover nothing from defendant," plaintiff's receipt of settlement proceeds constituted "relief" for purposes of Section 1032. (Typed opn. p. 26.) The Court of Appeal therefore ruled that the Hospital could not claim prevailing party status under Section 1032 as a defendant where the plaintiff obtained no relief. (Typed opn. p. 26.)

The Court of Appeal ruled that because settlement proceeds qualify as a "net monetary recovery" under Section 1032, plaintiff was entitled to her costs as a matter of right. Based on that finding, the Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's ruling and awarded plaintiff her costs. (Typed opn. pp. 3, 20.)

Thereafter, the Hospital filed a petition for review with the Supreme Court, which was granted on July 23, 2014.

IV. LEGAL DISCUSSION

A. The Standard of Review

Where the determination of whether costs should be awarded is an issue of law based on undisputed facts, courts exercise de novo review. (City of Long Beach v. Stevedoring Services of America (2007) 157 Cal.App.4th 672, 678.) de novo review is also proper where the issue regarding costs involves the interpretation of a statute. (Goodman v. Lozano (2010) 47 Cal.4th 1327, 1332.) With respect to interpreting a statute, and as the Court in Goodman explained,

... [the] primary goal is to determine and give effect to the underlying purpose of the law. Our first step is to scrutinize the actual words of the statute, giving them a plain and commonsense meaning. If the words of the statute are clear, the court should not add to or alter them to accomplish a purpose that does not appear on the face of the statute or from its legislative history. In other words, we are not free to give

the words an effect different from the plain and direct import of the terms used. However, the "plain meaning" rule does not prohibit a court from determining whether the literal meaning of a statute comports with its purpose or whether such a construction of one provision is consistent with other provisions of the statute. To determine the most reasonable interpretation of a statute, we look to its legislative history and background.

(Goodman, supra, 47 Cal.4th at 1332 (internal punctuation and citations omitted.)

- B. Settlement Proceeds Do Not Qualify As A "Net Monetary Recovery" Under Code of Civil Procedure Section 1032.
 - 1. The *Chinn* holding that settlement funds fail to qualify as a net monetary recovery is consistent with the law, legislative intent, and the goals of simplifying and streamlining procedures for determining costs.

a. The *Chinn* holding.

The court in *Chinn* held that settlement funds do not qualify as a net monetary recovery for purposes of Section 1032. This ruling created a framework for analyzing cost issues that is consistent with the statute, case law, legislative history, and the goal of simplifying procedures for determining costs.

In 1986, the Legislature enacted the current version of Section 1032. In its current form, Section 1032 defines "prevailing party" as a party "with a net monetary recovery, a defendant in whose favor a dismissal is entered, a defendant where neither plaintiff nor defendant obtains any relief, and a defendant as against those plaintiffs who do not recover any relief against that defendant." (*Chinn, supra*, 166 Cal.App.4th at 187.) Section 1032 provides that costs are available as "a matter of right" when the prevailing party falls within one of these four categories. (*Chinn, supra*, 166

Cal.App.4th at 188.) When none of the parties fall into one of these categories, the trial court may determine the prevailing party and has the discretion to allow or deny costs, or apportion costs between the parties. (*Gilbert v. National Enquirer. Inc.* (1997) 55 Cal.App.4th 1273.)

"The purpose of the 1986 legislation [enacting Section 1032], which was sponsored by the California Judges Association (CJA), was to streamline the rules and procedures on the award of litigation costs, which were deemed 'hard to find and hard to follow." (Goodman v. Lozano (2010) 47 Cal.4th 1327, 1335 (citations omitted); see also Wakefield v. Bohlin (2006) 145 Cal.App.4th 963, 996 (dis. Opn. of Mihara, J.) [The "overriding purpose" of the 1986 legislation was to "eliminate confusion."].) The Senate Committee on Judiciary noted that the purpose of the legislation was "to consolidate the relevant law governing recovery of costs and to simplify the present procedure for determining these costs, thereby relieving court congestion and easing judicial workload." (Chinn, supra, 166 Cal.App.4th 189.) The ruling in Chinn helped establish a procedural structure for analyzing costs that was consistent with these legislative goals and in line with legislative history.

The court in *Chinn* reviewed the history of costs statutes in California and explained that earlier statutes "codified case law interpreting a voluntary dismissal as a judgment in the defendant's favor" that entitled the defendant to costs. (*Chinn, supra,* 166 Cal.App.4th 187.) These earlier statutes provided for an award of costs as a matter of right to a "defendant...as to whom the action is dismissed." (*Chinn, supra,* 166 Cal.App.4th at 186, fn. 4.) The *Chinn* court cited legislative history that stated that the 1986 legislation was not intended to change that rule and explained that "[n]othing in the background materials accompanying the proposed amendment mentioned settlement proceeds or suggested the definition of 'prevailing party' in *section 1032* would change existing law

to permit an award of costs to a plaintiff following a dismissal." (*Chinn, supra*, 166 Cal.App.4th at 190.) The statutory language of Section 1032 is consistent with this conclusion because it expressly provides that a defendant in whose favor a dismissal is entered is a prevailing party as a matter of right. (Code Civ. Proc. § 1032(a)(4).)

The court in *Chinn* reasoned that allowing the term "net monetary recovery" to include settlement proceeds "would lead to an absurd result, as both plaintiff and defendants would be entitled to an award of costs as a matter of right": the settling plaintiff would be entitled to costs as the party with the "net monetary recovery," and the settling defendant would be entitled to costs as a defendant in whose favor a dismissal was entered. (*Chinn, supra*, 166 Cal.App. 4th at 188.) The court therefore concluded that "[c]onstruing the term 'net monetary recovery' in context, we conclude that the Legislature did not intend to include settlement proceeds received by the plaintiff in exchange for a dismissal in favor of the defendant." (*Chinn, supra*, 166 Cal.App.4th at 188, 190.)

In addition to being consistent with legislative history and the statutory language of Section 1032, this ruling created a framework for analyzing costs between settling parties that is simple and straight-forward: Defendants who obtain dismissals are prevailing parties (as expressly indicated in Section 1032) and plaintiffs cannot claim prevailing party status by virtue of receipt of settlement amounts. This rule not only aides in the resolution of costs issues before the courts but it facilitates settlement of cases between parties by creating a clear, concise rule with respect to costs at settlement. The ruling is also consistent with case law.

b. The *Chinn* ruling is consistent with numerous court decisions that strictly apply the rule that a defendant who obtains a dismissal is the prevailing party as a matter of right.

Numerous courts have confirmed that under Section 1032 "a defendant in whose favor a dismissal is entered" is the prevailing party as a matter of right. The ruling in *Chinn* that the prevailing party is the settling defendant who obtains a dismissal—rather than the plaintiff who obtains a settlement sum—is consistent with this well-established case law.

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