IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE rank A. McGuire Clerk
STATE OF CALIFORNIA Deputy

#### MAUREEN deSAULLES

Plaintiff and Respondent

VS.

#### COMMUNITY HOSPITAL OF THE MONTEREY PENINSULA

Defendant and Petitioner

Monterey County Superior Court
Civil Case No. M 85528
Honorable Lydia M. Villarreal, Judge
Court of Appeal of the State of California, Sixth Appellate District
Civil Case No. H 038 184

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

HENRY J. JOSEFSBERG, ESQ. 110 West Ocean Boulevard Suite 611 Long Beach, California 90802 SBN 136772 (562) 436-9401

Attorney for Plaintiff & Respondent Maureen deSaulles



#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES**

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

<u>Valley Gold Co.</u>, 74 Cal. 532, 533; 16 P. 325; (1888); <u>Slater v. Superior Court</u>, 45 Cal.App. 2<sup>nd</sup> 757 (1941); <u>Purdy v. Johnson</u>, 100 Cal.App. 416, 418 (1929).) <u>See also Lanyi v. Goldblum</u>, 177 Cal.App. 3<sup>rd</sup> 181, 185-87 (1986) (re Cal.Civ. Code § 1717 and Cal.Civ.Proc. Code § 998).

Although the cost statutes before 1986 did not refer to "prevailing party," Schrader v. Neville, 34 Cal. 2<sup>nd</sup> 112, 114 (1949) ("Unlike the statutes in many jurisdictions, our code section is not framed in the express language of the 'prevailing party' but it allows the recovery of costs upon that basis by specifying as the condition for an award of them, "a judgment in his favor."); the courts adverted to the standard of "prevailing party" even before 1986. E.g., Balfour, Guthrie & Co. v. Gourmet Farms, 108 Cal.App. 3<sup>rd</sup> 181, 191 (1980); Rappenecker at 263 ("Defendant cites us to no authority which states that in the absence of specific language contained in the contract which provides for costs in the event of suit, the *prevailing party* cannot recover costs.") (italics added).

As demonstrated immediately below, the 1986 revisions to Section 1032 did not change the prior law on whether a party receiving monetary compensation in a settlement is entitled to costs or fees.

#### C. AS PREVAILING PARTY STATUS DID NOT CHANGE IN THE 1986 REVISIONS TO SECTION 1032, SETTLING PLAINTIFFS REMAIN PREVAILING PARTIES

The Legislative History of Section 1032 emphasizes that "[t]he

fundamental principle of awarding costs to the prevailing party remains the same, but whether those costs are awarded as a matter of right or as a matter of the court's discretion now often depends on how the prevailing party is determined. If a party fits one of the definitions of 'prevailing' listed in C.C.P. 1032(a)(4) ... that party is entitled as a matter of right to recover costs. (C.C.P. 1032(a)(4), 1032(b).) In other situations, the prevailing party is determined by the court and the award of costs is discretionary." Acosta v. SI Corp., 129 Cal.App. 4<sup>th</sup> 1370, 1376 (2005) (citation omitted). "The relevant question on entitlement to costs is whether a party qualifies as a prevailing party under subdivision (a)(4). After the 1986 amendment to section 1032, '[t]he allowance of costs as a matter of right no longer depends on the character of the action involved but on how the prevailing party is determined." Id. (citing inter alia Michell, 49 Cal.App. 4<sup>th</sup> at 1197–98).

The innovation in the 1986 revision to Section 1032 was to use the phrase "prevailing party." As this Court has observed: "The legislative history reveals instead that at the time current section 1032 was reenacted, the "existing statutes d[id] not fully explain the concept of the 'prevailing party,' "and that a "comprehensive definition" was necessary to "further eliminate confusion." (Rep. on Sen. Bill No. 654, supra, at pp. 1, 3.)" <u>Goodman v.</u> Lozano, 47 Cal. 4<sup>th</sup> 1327, 1336 (2010).

Even according to the primary case upon which CHOMP relies, <u>Chinn v. KMR Property Management</u>, 166 Cal.App. 4<sup>th</sup> 175 (2008), "The legislative history of Senate Bill No. 654 (1985-1986 Reg. Sess.) does not indicate any

change in the law to consider settlement proceeds or provide costs to a plaintiff after a dismissal." <u>Id</u>. at 189. <u>See also Michell</u>, 49 Cal.App. 4<sup>th</sup> at 199 and n. 4 (1986 revisions to Section 1032 "do not drastically alter the definition of prevailing party"). Indeed, <u>Chinn</u> cites <u>Michell</u> – a case that did not involve a settlement – for the principle that "[i]t is clear from the statutory language that when there is a party with a 'net monetary recovery' (one of the four categories of prevailing party), that party is entitled to costs as a matter of right; the trial court has no discretion to order each party to bear his or her own costs." Chinn at 188 (quoting Michell at 1198).

Under this long-established principle, deSAULLES is still the "prevailing party" entitled to recovery of costs.

Accordingly, the general principle allowing cost recovery to the party with a "net monetary recovery" is not in dispute. The only issue in dispute is whether settlement proceeds are to be disregarded in determining whether a plaintiff has a "net monetary recovery" for purposes of cost recovery. Other than reliance on <u>Chinn</u>, and, unfortunately, misapplication of other authority, nothing in CHOMP's Brief supports the theory that settlement proceeds are to be disregarded.

D. <u>CHINN</u> ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT THE LEGISLATIVE HISTORY OF SECTION 1032 HAD ANYTHING TO DO WITH SETTLEMENT PROCEEDS

After having observed (correctly), that the 1986 revisions to Section

1032 "does not indicate any change in the law to consider settlement proceeds or provide costs to a plaintiff after a dismissal" Chinn at 189, that court promptly cited an obscure part of the Legislative History to Section 1032 that dealt with dismissals *unrelated* to settlement to leap to the conclusion that settlement proceeds should be excluded from determining whether the party receiving those proceeds received a "net monetary recovery."

<u>Chinn</u> concluded that an interpretation of "net monetary recovery" as including settlement proceeds would lead to the "absurd result" that "both plaintiff and defendants would be entitled to an award of costs as a matter of right." <u>Id</u>. at 188. That result would be absurd, and only occurs when the "dismissal" prong of Section 1032(a)(4) is taken literally and out of context.

The <u>Chinn</u> result comes from its over-technical reliance on the word "dismissal" in Section 1032. As the *only reason* for the dismissal here was CHOMP's payment of money – a result sought by deSAULLES – it is absurd to consider CHOMP to be a prevailing party. Section 1032 has not been interpreted in the manner advanced by <u>Chinn</u> in the other cases to have considered the issue. <u>Chinn</u>'s interpretation is wrong and should not control this matter. <u>See generally, Commission on Peace Officer Standards & Training v. Superior Court,</u> 42 Cal. 4<sup>th</sup> 278, 290 (2007) (language of a statute should not be given a literal meaning if doing so would result in absurd consequences the Legislature did not intend); <u>Lampley v. Alvares,</u> 50 Cal. App. 3<sup>rd</sup> 124, 128-29 (1975) ("Where a statute is susceptible of two constructions, one leading to mischief or absurdity, and the other consistent

with justice and common sense, the latter must be adopted.").

Supporting a *non sequitur* analysis, <u>Chinn</u> quoted general and unrelated provisions in the Legislative History, <u>see id</u>. at 189, focusing on a written response to a telephone call to a Legislative consultant:

Senate Bill No. 654 (1985-1986 Reg. Sess.) was introduced on behalf of the California Judges Association Civil Law and Procedure Committee. On January 20, 1984, Judge Richard H. Breiner, who was the chairman of the civil law and procedure committee, responded in writing to a telephone call from Assembly Republican consultant Earl Cantos. Judge Breiner stated in pertinent part, "The proposed bill merely synthesizes and simplifies the myriad of existing statutes into language which is clear, simple, and located in one place. You expressed concern that the proposal might allow an award of costs against a plaintiff not presently permitted under current law, when an action is dismissed. Under present[] law, costs are allowed to a defendant when plaintiff's action is dismissed. City of Industry v. Gordon 29 Cal.App. 3<sup>rd</sup> 90 (1972) (whether it is a voluntary dismissal with

prejudice), <u>Fisher v. Eckert</u>, 94 Cal.App. 2<sup>nd</sup> 2d 890 (1950), or without prejudice <u>International Industries</u>, <u>Inc. v. Olen</u> 21 Cal. 3<sup>rd</sup> 218 (1978). The proposed bill provides for no different result, but rather simply provides in cases of dismissal, for costs to a 'defendant on dismissal.'"

The "expressed concern" in the telephone call was "that the proposal might allow an award of costs against a plaintiff not presently permitted under current law, when an action is dismissed." As demonstrated above, at the time, settlements and stipulations for monetary recovery by plaintiffs led to recovery of costs when no mention was made of the disposition of those costs. <u>And none</u> of cases cited by Judge Breiner involved payment to a plaintiff, whether by settlement, compromise, verdict, or any method. <u>International Industries</u> at 220-21 was a unilateral voluntary dismissal in the face of several defenses; <u>City of Industry</u> at 92-93 dismissed for failure to prosecute; and <u>Fisher</u> at 891 recited a dismissal without reasons. In such cases costs would be given (under the 1986 revision or under prior law) to a defendant in whose favor a dismissal is entered because the plaintiff received nothing.

Judge Breiner reassured the telephone caller that "The proposed bill provides for no different result, but rather simply provides in cases of dismissal, for costs to a 'defendant on dismissal." Nothing in this History suggests that the participants in this discussion considered settlements, and Judge Breiner's conclusion is consistent with the long-established practice of

allowing settling plaintiffs recovery of costs (so long as they had a monetary recovery).

Absent the context of a dismissal purchased by settlement proceeds, these comments shed no light on whether settlement proceeds are to be considered.

## E. <u>CHINN</u>'S ANALYSIS VIOLATES THE PURPOSES OF SETTLEMENT AND OF COST RECOVERY

The purposes of the relevant statutes are to provide costs to a genuine prevailing party and to promote settlement. Refusing to follow <u>Chinn</u> will promote and harmonize the policies of Sections 1032, 998, and 664.6. <u>See generally, Smith v. Superior Court,</u> 39 Cal. 4<sup>th</sup> 77, 83 (2006) ("No statute—and by extension, no rule—is read in isolation, but is to be considered with reference to the entire scheme of which it is a part.").

"Section 1032 is the fundamental authority for awarding costs in civil actions. It establishes the general rule that "[e]xcept as otherwise expressly provided by statute, a prevailing party is entitled as a matter of right to recover costs in any action or proceeding." Scott Co. v. Blount, Inc., 20 Cal. 4<sup>th</sup> 1103, 1108 (1999) (citations omitted) (verdict). For purposes of section 1032, a party with a net monetary recovery, like deSAULLES, is a "[p]revailing party." So the purpose of Section 1032 is to allow a party achieving its goals his or her costs of suit. The purpose of Section 998, of course, is to encourage settlement. Bates v. Presbyterian Intercommunity Hospital, Inc., 204 Cal. App. 4<sup>th</sup> 210, 219

(2012). Section 664.6 is a mechanism for efficient enforcement of settlement. See Levy v. Superior Court, 10 Cal. 4<sup>th</sup> 578 (1995).

The policy of promoting settlement is furthered by allowing deSAULLES and not CHOMP to recover costs. The line of authority – other than <u>Chinn</u> at the time of settlement – held that a settling plaintiff was entitled to recovery of costs. Allowing CHOMP recovery of its costs would effectively eliminate the settlement proceeds and, had it been known at the time that the single case disallowing consideration of settlement proceeds would have that effect to the derogation of the consistent and contrary line of authority, deSAULLES would have been dis-incentivised to settle for the amount offered.

Engle offers a sound reason to allow costs to settling plaintiffs: "the bright-line rule exists precisely to avoid disputes such as this one about whether there was manipulation or misunderstanding." Id. at 169. A settling defendant can easily put a cost or fee waiver into the agreement. Id. at 170. Just as to costs, "[s]ince the offer was silent on fees, it did not bar a later fee motion." See id. In fact, CHOMP insisted that any settlement proceeds would offset wage-loss recovery if deSAULLES prevailed on other causes of action. And, as CHOMP rejected any cost waivers, this is not a case of an unwary defendant. Nor is it any different than a plaintiff's verdict on less than all causes of action.

Finally, Chinn relied on the wisp of a notion that failure to discuss

settlement in the Legislative History means that settlement proceeds are not to be considered in the definition of "net monetary recovery." The Legislative History discusses dismissals, but *not* in the context of settlement and only in the context of not changing existing law. Not changing existing law requires allowing settling plaintiffs their costs and in non-settlement contexts allowing dismissed defendants their costs. The purposes of the relevant statutes is to promote settlement and provide prevailing parties their costs. No purpose is served to advert to the implications of the absence of a reference to settlement in the Legislative History. See generally, Windham at Carmel Mountain Ranch Assn. v. Superior Court, 109 Cal.App. 4th 1162, 1173 (2003) ("Absent relevant legislative history, we consider the statute's apparent purpose and public policy factors.").

CHOMP errs, therefore, in its uncritical reliance on the holding of Chinn. In particular, CHOMP fails to reconcile Chinn's acknowledgments that the 1986 revision to Section 1032 was not meant to change the law as to settlement or ordinary dismissal cases, with that court's leap to a conclusion to favor the technicality of a purchased dismissal over the pragmatic result that, in an ordinary settlement, the plaintiff is the party with the "net monetary recovery."

# VII. EVEN CHOMP'S ANALYSIS OF CHINN DEMONSTRATES THAT, AS A MATTER OF LAW, THE SETTLEMENT PROCEEDS ARE PART OF THE "NET MONETARY RECOVERY" SUPPORTING deSAULLES AS THE "PREVAILING PARTY"

CHOMP relies on Chinn for the proposition that exclusion of settlement proceeds from the determination of "prevailing party" is necessary to avoid the "absurd result" of two prevailing parties: a prevailing defendant who purchased a dismissal and a plaintiff who had a monetary recovery in settlement. No such absurdity exists, and no reason exists to favor defendants by disregarding their settlement payments to plaintiffs. The existence of a formal "dismissal" in the settlement context does not elevate a settling defendant to the status of "prevailing party." see Wohlgemuth v. Caterpillar Inc., 207 Cal.App. 4th 1252, 1263-64 (2012); Engle v. Copenbarger & Copenbarger, LLP, 157 Cal.App. 4th 165, 168-70 (2007) ("Where a section 998 offer is silent on costs and fees, the prevailing party is entitled to costs. . . .") (citing, *inter alia* Folsom v. County Assn. of Governments, 32 Cal. 3rd 668, 678 (1982); On-Line Power, Inc. v. Mazur, 149 Cal.App. 4th 1079 (2007). So settlement does not give rise to a situation with two potentially prevailing parties.

## A. CHOMP'S "PLAIN MEANING" ANALYSIS DOES NOT ASSIST IT

CHOMP urges that exceptions should not be "engrafted" onto the plain meaning of Section 1032(a)(4). deSAULLES agrees. As she is the party with

the "net monetary recovery," the plain meaning of Section 1032 is that she is the "prevailing party."

But CHOMP's "plain meaning" argument relies on ignoring the "net monetary recovery" prong of Section 1032(a)(4), and pointing only to the "dismissal" prong as embodying the "plain meaning" of Section 1032(a)(4). Supporting this myopia, CHOMP cites <u>City of Long Beach v. Stevedoring Services of America</u>, 157 Cal.App. 4<sup>th</sup> 672, 679-80 (2007), for the proposition that "courts must be cautious about [¶] 'engrafting exceptions onto the clear language of Civil Procedure Code section 1032. . . ." (Brief at 11.) <u>City of Long Beach</u> had nothing to do with settlement or monetary recovery, but, instead, considered whether a cross-complaint dismissed for mootness was or was not in the cross-defendant's favor, <u>id</u>. at 679-80, and concluded:

There is no exception in the cost statute for dismissals of cross-complaints obtained on the ground that the cross-complaint has become moot. When a cross-complaint is dismissed as moot, the cross-defendant is one in whose favor the cross-complaint was dismissed and is therefore a prevailing party under Code of Civil Procedure section 1032 entitled to costs as a matter of right.

Id. at 680.

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